© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

# **Characteristics of Track Cycling**

*Neil P. Craig*<sup>1</sup> and *Kevin I. Norton*<sup>2</sup>

- 1 Australian Institute of Sport, Track Cycling Unit Adelaide, South Australia, Australia
- 2 School of Physical Education, Exercise and Sport Studies, University of South Australia, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

# Contents

Abstract
1. Track Cycling Events
1.1 Energetics of Track Events
2. Physical and Physiological Characteristics of Track Cyclists
2.1 Body Shape, Size and Composition
2.2 Maximal Oxygen Consumption
2.3 Blood Lactate Transition Thresholds
2.4 Anaerobic Capacity
3. Competition Power Output
3.1 200m Sprint
3.2 1000m Time Trial
3.3 4000m Team Pursuit
3.4 4000m Individual Pursuit
3.5 Madison
4. Programme Design and Monitoring
5. Conclusion

# Abstract

Track cycling events range from a 200m flying sprint (lasting 10 to 11 seconds) to the 50km points race (lasting  $\approx$ 1 hour). Unlike road cycling competitions where most racing is undertaken at submaximal power outputs, the shorter track events require the cyclist to tax maximally both the aerobic and anaerobic (oxygen independent) metabolic pathways. Elite track cyclists possess key physical and physiological attributes which are matched to the specific requirements of their events: these cyclists must have the appropriate genetic predisposition which is then maximised through effective training interventions. With advances in technology it is now possible to accurately measure both power supply and demand variables under competitive conditions. This information provides better resolution of factors that are important for training programme design and skill development.

Increased cycling performance can be achieved by decreasing the various sources of resistance and/or increasing the power output of the rider. The speed a cyclist moves is determined by the power supply available for skeletal muscle contraction from physiological sources [i.e. an individual's aerobic and anaerobic (oxygen independent) power and capacity] and the power demand required to overcome resistance (e.g. riding position, body mass, rolling resistance, air resistance, and gradient). Optimal performance occurs when the power supply from all available energy sources is efficiently harnessed to maximise speed over the race distance.<sup>[1]</sup> The aim of this review is to examine some of the physiological attributes required for successful, high performance track cycling and to discuss how modification of these can effect performance. Data on the physiology and bioenergetics of world class track cyclists during training and competition will also be reviewed.

# 1. Track Cycling Events

Track cycling is a generic term for all events that take place indoors and outdoors on a banked, hard surfaced track (wood or cement) which normally has a circumference of 333m or less. Track cycling can be divided into 2 broad categories: sprint (<1000m) and endurance races (>1000m). The principal events range from a 200m flying sprint lasting approximately 10 seconds to the 50km points race lasting approximately 1 hour. In addition, there is the prestigious 1-hour record where cyclists ride alone and cover the greatest distance possible.<sup>[2,3]</sup> At the recent Sydney 2000 Olympic Games, track cyclists competed in the following events: 200m sprint; Olympic sprint (male); 500m (female) and 1000m individual time trial (male); 3000m (female) and 4000m individual pursuit (male); team pursuit (male); points race; Madison and Keirin (male). A detailed explanation of each event is provided elsewhere,<sup>[4-6]</sup> with current world record times provided in table I.

#### 1.1 Energetics of Track Events

Unlike road cycling, where most competitive events are performed at submaximal exercise in-

**Table I.** Current world record times for selected track cycling events, estimations of the contributions from the energy systems and estimated competition work rate (modified from Jeukendrup et al., $^{[7]}$  with permission)

Event	World record	Contribution f	rom the power systems (%)	Estimated competition		
	(min:sec)	alactic	anaerobic glycolytic	aerobic	work rate <sup>a</sup> (%VO <sub>2max</sub> )	
200m sprint						
Male	0:09.865 <sup>b</sup>	40	55	5	280	
Female	0:10.831	40	55	5	235	
Olympic sprint						
1st position	0:44.233 <sup>c</sup>	40	55	5	355	
2nd position		30	60	10	290	
3rd position		20	40	40	245	
Time trial						
Male (1000m)	1:00.148 <sup>b</sup>	10	40	50	180	
Female (500m)	0:34.010	20	45	35	245	
Individual pursuit						
Male (4000m)	4:11.114 <sup>d</sup>	1	14	85	105	
Female (3000m)	3:30.816	1	24		110	
Team pursuit						
Male (4000m)	4:00.958	1	24	75	125-135 <sup>e</sup>	
1-hour record (km)						
Male	56.375	<1	4	>95	85-90	
Female	e 48.159		4	>95	85-90	

a Based on information from Craig et al.<sup>[8]</sup> and unpublished power output and  $\dot{V}O_{2max}$  data.

b Ridden at altitude.

c World best time.

d Ridden in 'Superman' position on the bicycle. This position is now banned by the International Cycling Union (UCI).

e When cycling in lead position.

VO2max = maximal oxygen uptake

tensities and power outputs,<sup>[7]</sup> the medium duration track cycling events require the rider to tax maximally both the aerobic and anaerobic pathways.<sup>[9-11]</sup> Whilst the consensus is that to be successful in these events, both the aerobic and anaerobic powers and capacities need to be maximally developed through appropriate training, the optimal training strategies to achieve this outcome are still unclear.<sup>[12]</sup> The relationships between different track events and the proposed primary energy sources utilised have been outlined by Burke.<sup>[13]</sup> It should be noted that these estimated contributions are based on the concept that the energy sources for a given activity are time-dependent, assuming maximal effort during that time.<sup>[14]</sup> There is considerable variability in the estimated energy contributions to track events.<sup>[6,9,15,16]</sup> However, in the 4000m individual pursuit, a contribution of 70 to 80% of energy from aerobic pathways and 20 to 30% from oxygen-independent sources are typical.[6,9,15-17] For the female 3000m individual pursuit, the contribution of aerobic and anaerobic metabolism has been estimated at 75% aerobic and 25% anaerobic.<sup>[6]</sup> The most variable estimates of the energy contributions are for track events of <4000m. Both Oehme and Lychatz<sup>[6]</sup> and Astrand and Rodahl<sup>[18]</sup> proposed that the aerobic and anaerobic contribution to the 1000m time trial was 30 and 70%, respectively, which contrasts with the 5 and 95% contributions estimated by Burke.<sup>[13]</sup> Using the methods of Medbo et al.<sup>[19]</sup> to determine the contribution of aerobic and anaerobic energy release during short term exhausting cycling, the aerobic and anaerobic energy contributions to a 1000m time trial are likely to be closer to a 50 to 50% split.<sup>[10,20-23]</sup> Table I provides estimates of the aerobic and anaerobic energy contributions to the major track cycling events.

Finally, the oxygen uptake ( $\dot{V}O_2$ ) kinetics respond much quicker than originally thought during short term exhaustive exercise.<sup>[10]</sup> As uptake kinetics are a trainable process<sup>[24]</sup> and as kinetic rise time has been reported to be a significant predictor of success of distances of <4000m,<sup>[9,10]</sup> this has significant implications for sport scientists and coaches when constructing training programmes for track cyclists. For example, shorter duration (30- to 90-second) intervals at supramaximal intensities may invoke improvements in  $\dot{V}O_2$  kinetics.<sup>[10]</sup>

# 2. Physical and Physiological Characteristics of Track Cyclists

There have been relatively few studies to identify the key physiological variables associated with elite track cyclists. An examination of longitudinal data collected from the Australian Institute of Sports' track cycling laboratory (unpublished observations), in conjunction with previously published modelling data<sup>[1,9,10]</sup> provide insight into the major factors impacting on success in international track cycling.

# 2.1 Body Shape, Size and Composition

Cycle racing is one of the few sports where performance is determined by physical output in direct interaction with a mechanical device. Consequently, anthropometric parameters need to be considered in relationship to the bicycle set-up and rider's position during competition. McLean and Parker<sup>[25]</sup> described the relationship between selected anthropometric characteristics of 35 elite male Australian track cyclists to performance. Sprint cyclists were significantly heavier and stronger, and had larger chest, arm, thigh and calf girths than the endurance cyclists. However, no significant relationship was found between any anthropometric parameter and performance in an individual event. Figure 1 illustrates the body size profiles for all male and female cyclists competing at the Sydney Olympics across a number of track events.<sup>[27]</sup> A higher mesomorphy is important in the shorter events and this progressively decreases as the event distance increases. Sprint cyclists are generally shorter than other track cyclists. Time trialists and pursuiters are the tallest and most ectomorphic who also have longer legto-height ratios compared with other groups.<sup>[28]</sup> This reduces aerodynamic drag of the upper body and allows pursuiters to use much higher gear ratios than any of the other groups, probably because they can use longer crank arms (e.g. 170 vs 165mm).<sup>[29]</sup>



**Fig. 1.** The body size profiles [height, mass and body mass index (BMI)] for all track cyclists competing at the Sydney 2000 Olympics. The males (**left**) are from 5 track events (sprint, n = 19; Olympic sprint, n = 37; time trial, n = 16; pursuit, n = 57, points race, n = 23). The females (**right**) are from 4 track events (sprint, n = 12; 500m time trial, n = 17; pursuit, n = 11; points race, n = 18). The error bars indicate  $\pm 1$  standard deviation. Data are from www.Olympics.com.<sup>[26]</sup>

Also shown are the mean values for the top 4 place getters and the mean for all others in each of the events. For each event there is an optimal body shape and the winners tend to be bigger versions of this shape in events of 4000m or less.

It is generally accepted that a low relative body fat is desirable for successful performance in almost any sport, as additional body fat adds to the mass of the body without contributing to its force or energy contributing capabilities.<sup>[30]</sup> With respect to track cycling, increased nonfunctional mass has a triple effect of decreasing performance since it increases the energy cost of acceleration, rolling resistance and the projected frontal surface area of the cyclist.<sup>[31]</sup> As expected, both male and female elite track cyclists average among the lowest levels of body fat of any sport.<sup>[9,10,25,30,32-37]</sup> This is not surprising since Australia's elite track cyclists ride in excess of 35 000km per year. From a practical point of view, Olds et al.<sup>[1,38]</sup> estimated that an increased body fat mass of 2kg would increase a 4000m individual pursuit cycling performance time by about 1.5 seconds, which equates to a distance of approximately 20m. Kyle<sup>[39]</sup> estimated a 3.5% increase in nonfunctional mass would increase the cyclist's time over 1000m by 0.15 seconds.

# 2.2 Maximal Oxygen Consumption

A consideration of the relative contributions of the aerobic and anaerobic metabolic energy systems to track cycling events (table I) highlights the importance of a high aerobic capacity for success in most track cycling events. The ability to rapidly reach and thereafter sustain a high maximal oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2max</sub>), enables a large, rapid and sustained aerobic energy release that reduces premature reliance upon a large proportion of the finite oxygen deficit. VO2max values >90 ml/kg/min have been measured in 2 male pursuit cyclists (world champions, world record holders and Olympic medallists). Both of these cyclists exhibited significant arterial O<sub>2</sub> desaturation (%S<sub>a</sub>O<sub>2</sub>≈90%) during simulated 4000m individual pursuit.<sup>[40]</sup> Interestingly, when the fraction of inspired oxygen  $(F_1O_2)$  was raised to 0.3, S<sub>a</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was also elevated to full saturation. During the hyperoxic condition at a constant supramaximal work rate (115%  $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ ), there was a significant reduction in blood lactate, ventilation, adrenaline and noradrenaline levels. Although it was not possible to measure VO2 during these hyperoxic performances it was estimated that VO2 was approaching 100 ml/kg/min in these athletes.<sup>[41]</sup>

As high aerobic power is strongly associated with track cycling success,<sup>[9]</sup> peak values in excess of 80 ml/kg/min for males and 70 ml/kg/min for females are considered prerequisites for successful world class athletes.<sup>[8]</sup> As  $\dot{V}O_{2max}$  and its response to training are under strong genetic control<sup>[42]</sup> then obviously a high aerobic power base is mandatory for successful track cycling performance. This is highlighted by a male track cyclist reported by Jeukendrup et al.<sup>[7]</sup> who, in the off-season with little training, recorded a value of 74.3 ml/kg/min. In preparation for the National Championships 6 months later, this value rose to 84.8 ml/kg/min.

In comparison to road cyclists, there is a distinct lack of VO<sub>2max</sub> descriptive data for elite track cyclists.<sup>[9,33,34,43-46]</sup> Recently, aerobic power data for elite male and female track cyclists, including the training phase, were reported.<sup>[8]</sup> VO<sub>2max</sub> showed significant variation throughout the training year as a result of alterations in the amount of training volume and intensity. Sjogaard et al.<sup>[45]</sup> reported changes of up to 22% in the relative  $\dot{V}O_{2max}$  of a Danish track cyclist over a 12-month period while Jeukendrup et al.<sup>[7]</sup> reported longitudinal changes in aerobic indices over a 6-year period for an elite male 4000m team pursuit cyclist. In terms of cycling performance, Olds et al.<sup>[1]</sup> predicted that a 15% improvement in VO<sub>2max</sub> (5.14 to 5.91 L/min) would enable the track cyclist to complete a 4000m individual pursuit 15.5 seconds faster.

### 2.3 Blood Lactate Transition Thresholds

The blood lactate transition thresholds, particularly for the track endurance athletes occur at high absolute and relative work rates.<sup>[9,46]</sup> Furthermore, a significant correlation has been found between the power output at which the thresholds occurred and performances in a group of national level track cyclists.<sup>[9]</sup> Studies by Aunola et al.<sup>[47]</sup> and Ivy et al.<sup>[48]</sup> have demonstrated that blood lactate transition threshold indices reflect the muscle metabolic status or peripheral component of the oxygen transport system, with VO2max closely related to and limited by central mechanisms.<sup>[49]</sup> Both the peripheral and central components of aerobic metabolism have been reported to relate to track cycling performance.<sup>[9]</sup> Such a finding has implications for training: the optimal way to train these 2 components may not necessarilv be the same.<sup>[49]</sup>

### 2.4 Anaerobic Capacity

The existence of a significant anaerobic energy contribution during a cycling event is often indicated by a high post-competition blood lactate level.<sup>[50]</sup> In track cycling events, under competition conditions, post-competition blood lactate



Fig. 2. Power output profile of a female 200m flying sprint.

levels of 11.6 to 22.0 mmol/L have been reported.<sup>[6,9,11,33,34,51]</sup> These values are not surprising when the racing profile of each track event is considered. For example, de Koning et al.<sup>[52]</sup> have proposed the best result at the 1000m time trial is obtained when cyclists have the highest anaerobic peak power output and use an 'all-out' pacing strategy. On the other hand, the fastest time in the 4000m individual pursuit is achieved with an 'all-out' start at a high level of initial power, followed by a constant anaerobic power output after the first 12 seconds. After instantaneous power outputs of >1000W at the start, there are power output fluctuations of between 600 to 650W while riding in the lead position during a 4000m team pursuit.<sup>[7,53]</sup> Craig et al.<sup>[9]</sup> reported a significant correlation between accumulated oxygen deficit and 4000m individual pursuit performance. Sprint cyclists had a significantly greater anaerobic capacity (66.9  $\pm$  2.2 ml/kg) compared with endurance track cyclists  $(57.6 \pm 6.7 \text{ ml/kg})$ .<sup>[10]</sup> Saltin<sup>[54]</sup> proposed that a maximal accumulated oxvgen deficit (MAOD) value of 100 ml/kg is a likely estimate for a highly trained male 4000m individual pursuit cyclist.

Anaerobic capacity can be improved with appropriate training: Medbo and Burgers<sup>[55]</sup> reported a 10% increase in MAOD after 6 weeks of high intensity interval training. Such a change in MAOD could, potentially, improve 4000m individual pursuit time by  $\approx$ 1 second.<sup>[1]</sup>

# 3. Competition Power Output

The power output required for successful track cycling performance depends upon variables such as bicycle speed, bicycle design and associated components, cyclist's size and position and environmental factors. Until recently, scientists and coaches have developed and employed mathematical models to estimate the mechanical power requirements of the different track cycling events.<sup>[1,3,51,56]</sup> While such models have been reasonably accurate, the SRM bicycle crank dynamometer has made it possible to accurately quantify instantaneous power output during track cycling events.<sup>[57]</sup> In addition to mechanical power, the SRM also measures and stores speed, distance covered, cadence and heart rate. As such, there are now data characterising the demands of elite track cyclists during training and international competition.

### 3.1 200m Sprint

Figure 2 shows power output data for a female cyclist during a 200m flying qualification sprint at a World Cup event. Peak and average power output during the 200m were 1020 and 752W, respectively. Power output at the end of the 200m was 568W which equates to a 44% drop-off from the peak power. Speed and pedalling cadence peaked at 63.5 km/hour and 150 rpm, respectively, with an average cadence of 142 rpm.



Fig. 3. Power output profile of a 1000m time trial.



Fig. 4. Power output and cadence profile of a 4000m team pursuit cyclist.

#### 3.2 1000m Time Trial

Figure 3 depicts the power output profile of an elite male cyclist during a 1000m time trial at an international competition. Most notable is the 1799W peak power output at the start and the minimum 399W at the finish, representing a 78% decay in power output. Average power output for the event was 757W at an average cadence of 127 rpm. This profile is typical of that suggested by de Koning et al.<sup>[52]</sup> who advocates an 'all-out' strategy when riding this event. This pacing strategy may be critical since a significant correlation was found between first lap and final time for the top eight 1000m time trialists at the 1998 World Championship.<sup>[52]</sup> However, there was no relationship between final lap and finishing time.

# 3.3 4000m Team Pursuit

Broker et al.<sup>[53]</sup> were the first to report SRM power output profiles on elite track cyclists during a simulated competition. Recently, Jeukendrup et al.<sup>[7]</sup> published SRM power output profiles on elite team pursuit cyclists during a World Cup competition. Both researchers reported power output requirements for riders cycling in the lead position. An average power output of  $607 \pm 45W$  was reported by Broker et al.<sup>[53]</sup> which was slightly higher than the  $581 \pm 43W$  found for riders under actual competition conditions.<sup>[7]</sup> This variation could be caused by differences in riding speed, skill, technique, position, body mass, frontal surface area, equipment design, environmental and track conditions. For cyclists riding in positions 2, 3 and 4, Broker et al.<sup>[53]</sup> reported average power output values of  $430 \pm 39$ ,  $389 \pm 32$  and  $389 \pm 33W$ , respectively. Such values clearly demonstrate the importance and advantage of drafting and the associated high degree of skill required to be a successful team pursuiter. The closer one cyclist follows another, the greater the drag reduction, with the total wind resistance declining from an average of 44% at 1.7m between riders (or zero wheel gap), to only about 27% at 3.7m between riders (or a 2m wheel gap).<sup>[58]</sup>

Figure 4 presents the power output profile of a single rider during a 4000m team pursuit in a World Cup competition (unpublished observations). Instantaneous power output was approximately 1100W at the start and only dropped to <1000W after the first 10 to 12 seconds of the race. Thereafter, depending on the rider's position in the team, power output fluctuated between 550 to 600W in the lead position and 350 to 400W when following other team members. Despite these power output varia-



**Fig. 5.** Power output profiles of a male and female individual pursuit cyclist (from Jeukendrup et al.,<sup>[7]</sup> with permission). IP = individual pursuit.

tions the cadence was held within a narrow range from the lead to the fourth wheel position. This clearly illustrates the stochastic power demands of team pursuit racing and highlights the need to have good riding technique and changing skills.

#### 3.4 4000m Individual Pursuit

In contrast with the large oscillating power requirements of the 4000m team pursuit, the power profile for rider's competing in 4000m individual pursuit races are much more even. Figure 5 displays the power output profiles for an elite male riding a 4000m and an elite female riding a 3000m individual pursuit during World Cup events. The average power output values for the riders were 495 and 381W, respectively, and there was a much narrower range of power outputs required to ride the individual pursuit. Figure 6 illustrates that the power output and speed profiles are still oscillating by up to 100W and 3 km/h with no section being covered uniformly. The power and speed fluctuations are proportional to the cyclist's position on the track, with the power output always lowest in the bends when velocity is at its highest. In contrast, power output is highest and velocity lowest at the beginning and in the middle of the straight (represented as point A in figure 6). The ability to minimise these power output and speed fluctuations by improved pedalling technique is a characteristic seen in the best pursuit cyclists (unpublished observations).

#### 3.5 Madison

For the first time ever, the Madison was included as an Olympic event at the Sydney 2000 Olym-



Fig. 6. Power output and speed characteristics during a 4000m individual pursuit. A = where power output is highest and velocity lowest (at the beginning and in the middle of the straight).



Fig. 7. Power output profile of a Madison track event.

pic Games. It is an event comprising teams of 2 riders, with each rider taking turns in racing and recovery. A 20-minute power output profile of a Madison World Cup competition is presented in figure 7. Typically, work:recovery ratios are in the order of 1 : 1 (35 to 40 seconds duration). When contrasted with the team pursuit, the work : recovery power outputs are more extreme. Figure 8 shows a frequency distribution for the percentage of time spent at various power outputs during an entire Madison event. Even though the peak and average power outputs were 1157 and 287W, respectively, the Madison is clearly a dichotomy of work effort where a large proportion of the competition time is shared by the extremes of power output.

#### 4. Programme Design and Monitoring

Track cycling is a sport with a wide variety of events ranging from very short match sprints of about 10 seconds to a 50km points race or Madison lasting  $\approx$ 1 hour. The different demands of competition obviously call for implementation of specific training activities. Boulay<sup>[59]</sup> and Burke<sup>[60]</sup> have summarised these activities according to the approximate contribution of the aerobic and anaerobic energy sources. In devising an appropriate training programme for an elite track cyclist the selection will be influenced by the experience and knowledge of the coach and cyclist. Each cyclist may respond differently to the same exercise stimulus.



Fig. 8. Frequency distribution for a percentage of time spent at various power output ranges during a Madison track event.

Interval	Rate	Gold medal	Average PO		Cadence HR		%HR <sub>max</sub>	%IAT	PO in lead position			HLa	pН	HCO <sub>3</sub> -1	RPE
no.	(km/h)	speed (4 min 00 sec) [%]	(W)	(W/kg)	(rpm)	(bpm)			(W)	(W/kg)	%IAT PO	(mmol/L	_)	(mmol/L)	
Pre												2.1	7.391	25	
1 - TP	48.0	80.0	267	3.8	122	162	84	70	359	5.1	94	2.5	7.383	24	3
2 - TP	47.7	79.5	273	3.9	122	167	86	71	361	5.1	94	2.1	7.418	26	3
3 - IP	48.5	80.8	267	3.8	122	164	85	70	IP			2.0	7.462	27	3
4 - IP	48.6	81.0	268	3.8	124	165	85	70	IP			1.9	7.444	27	3
5 - TP	49.8	83.0	284	4.0	128	170	88	74	411	5.8	107	3.4	7.382	22	5
6 - TP	50.1	83.5	300	4.2	128	173	89	78	425	6.0	111	3.6	7.387	23	6
7 - TP	51.1	85.2	318	4.5	131	179	92	83	433	6.1	113	4.9	7.355	21	8
8 - TP	51.4	85.7	333	4.7	131	182	94	87	452	6.4	118	6.2	7.317	18	8
9 - IP	52.7	89.3	326	4.6	134	183	94	85	IP			7.7	7.327	18	7
10 - TP	52.7	89.3	358	5.0	135	181	93	93	482	6.8	126	10.9	7.215	13	9
HLa = blood lactate level; HR = heart rate; IAT = individual anaerobic threshold power output; IP = individual pursuit; PO = power output; RPE = rating of perception of effort; TP = team pursuit.															

Table II. Monitoring data during a track training session for a 4000m team pursuit cyclist

Examples of general programme designs are provided in the literature.<sup>[6,59-62]</sup>

By repeated monitoring of selected training sessions, the coach is able to control the quality and quantity of the training, help prevent overtraining and quantify the overall training programme.<sup>[59,63-66]</sup> Boulay<sup>[59]</sup> has suggested a variety of physiological variables (i.e. heart rate, lactate, VO<sub>2</sub>) to monitor and quantify training. In the past, the monitoring of these variables would have been difficult, but with the advent of improved technology, many of these variables can be measured accurately and reliably in the field. Table II provides an example of monitoring data during a track training session for a 4000m team pursuit cyclist (unpublished observations). The training session consisted of ten 4km efforts in mainly team pursuit formation at a variety of prescribed speeds. Heart rate, blood lactate, blood pH and bicarbonate, power output, speed and cadence were all monitored for the cyclist. Training power output data were also related to the cyclist's individual anaerobic threshold power output as previously described.<sup>[8]</sup> The collection of these data provided the coach with an objective assessment of the athlete's level of fatigue and enabled the sport scientist to quantify the session in terms of training volume and intensity.

# 5. Conclusion

This review outlines the physical and physiological characteristics of high performance cyclists in a range of different track events. Each event has its own set of body type and metabolic requirements in order for the athletes to achieve international success. These specific profiles guide the process of morphological and physiological optimisation of the athletes in each event. This increased degree of specialisation has resulted in improved cycling performances, particularly during the last decade.

The selection of the best juniors through the systematic identification of genetic potential in talent programmes has been in operation in many countries for considerable time. We believe the ability to further develop the physiological attributes of this select pool of talent may be reaching a plateau. It is likely that future improvements in cycling performances will disproportionately come from reductions in the energy demand side of cycling. Currently athletes are dedicating themselves to full-time training. This involves thousands of kilometres of riding which is pushing them to the extremes of training volume and intensity. Even relatively large additions in their physiological attributes, if it were possible, would not necessarily result in corresponding improvements in performance times. This is because a small increment in speed requires a cubic rise in power output. The question now facing coaches, sport scientists and cycling administrators is 'where do we spend our time and resources – improving the energy supply (i.e. training) or decreasing the energy demand (i.e. equipment modifications and innovations)?'

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Mr Charlie Walsh and Australia's elite track cyclists for their willingness to participate in a number of studies during the last 15 years.

#### References

- Olds TS, Norton KI, Craig NP. Mathematical model of cycling performance. J Appl Physiol 1993; 75: 730-7
- Bassett DR, Kyle CR, Passfield L, et al. Comparing cycling world hour records, 1967-1996: modelling with empirical data. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1999; 31: 1665-76
- Padilla S, Mujika I. Scientific approach to the 1-hour cycling world record: a case study. J Appl Physiol 2000; 89: 1522-7
- Massagrande A. Agonistic Cycling. Milano: Edizioni Landoni, 1983
- Burke ER. Road and track cycling. In: Lamb DR, Knuttgen HG, Murray R, editors. Perspectives in exercise science and sports medicine. Vol. 7: Physiology and nutrition for competitive sport. Carmel (IN): Cooper Publishing Group, 1994: 303-28
- Oehme W, Lychatz S. Bahnradsport. In: Weib C, Seidl H, editors. Handbuch radsport. Munich: BLV Verlagsgesellschaft, 1996: 233-304
- Jeukendrup AE, Craig NP, Hawley JA. The physiological demands of world class cycling. J Sci Med Sport 2000; 3: 400-19
- Craig NP, Walsh C, Martin DT, et al. Protocols for the physiological assessment of high performance track, road and mountain cyclists. In: Gore CJ, editor. Physiological tests for elite athletes/Australian Sports Commission. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics, 2000: 258-77
- Craig NP, Norton KI, Bourdon PC, et al. Aerobic and anaerobic indices contributing to track endurance cycling performance. Eur J Appl Physiol 1993; 67: 150-8
- Craig NP, Norton KI, Conyers RAJ, et al. Influence of test duration and event specificity on maximal oxygen deficit of high performance track cyclists. Int J Sports Med 1995; 16: 534-40
- Craig NP, Pyke FS, Norton KI. Specificity of test duration when assessing the anaerobic lactacid capacity of high performance track cyclists. Int J Sports Med 1989; 10: 237-42
- Sleivert G. Training and competition in the mystery zone: a report from the first annual USOC-ACSM human performance summit [online]. Available from: URL: http://www.sportsci. org/news/news9709/sleivert.html/ [Accessed 1999 Jun 1]
- Burke ER. The physiology of cycling. In: Burke ER, editor. Science of cycling. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics, 1986: 1-19
- Fox EL, Bowers RW, Foss ML. The physiological basis of physical education and athletics. 4th ed. Dubuque: Wm C Brown Publishers, 1989
- Jurbala P. Training and nutrition for racing cyclists. New York (ON): Ontario Cycling Association, 1983

467

- Faria IE, Cavanagh PR. The physiology and biomechanics of cycling. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1978
- Faina M, Gallozzi C, Marini C, et al. Energy cost of several sport disciplines by miniaturised telemetric O<sub>2</sub> intake measurements. First IOC World Congress on Sport Sciences; 1989 Oct 28-Nov 3; Colorado Springs (CO), 76-77
- Astrand P-O, Rodahl K. Textbook of work physiology. 2<sup>nd</sup> rev. ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1986
- Medbo JI, Mohn A, Tabata I, et al. Anaerobic capacity determined by maximal accumulated O<sub>2</sub> deficit. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64: 50-60
- Gastin PB, Lawson DL. Variable resistance all-out test to generate accumulated oxygen deficit and predict anaerobic capacity. Eur J Appl Physiol 1994; 69: 331-6
- Medbo JI, Tabata I. Relative importance of aerobic and anaerobic energy release during short-term exhausting bicycle exercise. J Appl Physiol 1989; 67: 1881-6
- 22. Serresse O, Lortie G, Bouchard C, et al. Estimation of the contribution of the various energy systems during maximal work of short duration. Int J Sports Med 1988; 9: 456-60
- Withers RT, Van Der Ploeg G, Finn JP. Oxygen deficits incurred during 45, 60, 75 and 90-s maximal cycling on an air-braked ergometer. Eur J Appl Physiol 1993; 67: 185-91
- Yoshida T, Udo M, Ohmori T, et al. Day-to-day changes in oxygen uptake kinetics at the onset of exercise during strenuous endurance training. Eur J Appl Physiol 1992; 64: 78-83
- McLean BD, Parker AW. An anthropometric analysis of the elite Australian track cyclist. J Sports Sci 1989; 7: 247-55
- Body size profiles for male and female Olympic track cyclists [online]. URL: www.Olympics.com [Accessed 2000 Oct 18]
- Participant's anthropometric data [online]. Available from: URL: http://www.olympics.com/eng/sports/CT/part.html [Accessed 2000 Oct 13]
- Craig NP. South Australian representative sportsmen: relative body fat, somatotype and anthropometric prediction of body density [master's thesis] Adelaide: Flinders University of South Australia, 1984
- Foley JP, Bird SR, White JA. Anthropometric comparison of cyclists from different events. Br J Sports Med 1989; 23: 30-3
- Norton KI, Olds T, Olive S, et al. Anthropometry and sports performance. In: Norton KI, Olds T, editors. Anthropometrica. Sydney: University of New South Wales Press, 1996: 289-364
- Gregor RJ. Biomechanics of Cycling. In: Garrett WE, Kirkendall DT, editors. Exercise and Sport Science. Philadelphia (PA): Lippincott Williams and Williams, 2000: 515-37
- Mackova EJ, Melichna Z, Placheta D, et al. Skeletal muscle characteristics of sprint cyclists and nonathletes. Int J Sports Med 1986; 7: 295-7
- Neumann G. Cycling. In: Shephard RJ, Astrand P-O, editors. Endurance in sport. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1992: 582-96
- 34. Pyke FS, Craig NP, Norton KI. Physiological and psychological responses of pursuit and sprint track cyclists to a period of reduced training. In: Burke ER, Newsom MM, editors. Medical and scientific aspects of cycling. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics, 1988: 147-63
- Telford R, Tumilty D, Damm G. Skinfold measurements in wellperformed Australian athletes. Sports Sci Med Q 1984; 1: 13-16
- White JA, Quinn G, Al-Dawalibi M, et al. Seasonal changes in cyclist's performance. II. The British Olympic track squad. Br J Sports Med 1982; 16: 13-21

- Withers RT, Craig NP, Bourdon PC, et al. Relative body fat and anthropometric prediction of body density of male athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 1987; 56: 191-200
- Olds TS, Norton KI, Craig NP, et al. The limits of the possible: models of energy supply and demand in cycling. Aust J Sci Med Sport 1995; 2: 29-33
- 39. Kyle C. The mechanics and aerodynamics of cycling. In: Burke ER, Newsom MM, editors. Medical and scientific aspects of cycling. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics, 1988: 235-51
- Norton KI, Squires B, Norton LH, et al. Exercise stimulus increases ventilation from maximal to supramaximal intensity. Eur J Appl Physiol 1995; 70: 115-25
- Squires B. Ventilation and hypoxaemia during exercise in highly trained athletes [honours degree thesis]. Newcastle: University of Newcastle, 1991
- Bouchard C, Dionne FT, Simoneau JA, et al. Genetics of aerobic and anaerobic performances. In: Holloszy JO, editor. Exercise and sport sciences review. Baltimore (MA): Williams and Wilkins, 1992; 20: 27-58
- Burke ER, Cerny F, Costill D, et al. Characteristics of skeletal muscle in competitive cyclists. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1977; 9: 109-12
- 44. Gore CJ, Hahn A, Rice A, et al. Altitude training at 2690m does not increase total haemoglobin mass or sea level VO<sub>2max</sub> in world class track cyclists. J Sci Med Sport 1998; 1: 156-70
- 45. Sjogaard G, Nielsen B, Mikkelsen F, et al. Physiology in cycling. New York: Movement Publications, 1985
- Telford RD, Hahn AG, Pyne DB, et al. Strength, anaerobic capacities and aerobic power of Australian track and road cyclists. Excel 1990; 6: 20-2
- Aunola S, Marniemi J, Alanen E, et al. Muscle metabolic profile and oxygen transport capacity as determinants of aerobic and anaerobic thresholds. Eur J Appl Physiol 1988; 57: 726-34
- 48. Ivy JH, Withers RT, Van Handel PJ, et al. Muscle respiratory capacity and fibre type as determinants of the lactate threshold. J Appl Physiol 1980; 48: 523-7
- 49. Saltin B. Physiological and biochemical basis of aerobic and anaerobic capacities in man: effect of training and range of adaptation. In: Russo P, Gass G, editors. Exercise, nutrition and performance. Sydney: Cumberland College of Health Sciences, 1985: 41-78
- Jacobs I. Blood lactate: implications for training and sports performance. Sports Med 1986; 3: 10-25
- Burke ER, Fleck S, Dickson T. Post-competition blood lactate concentrations in competitive track cyclists. Br J Sports Med 1981; 15: 242-5
- de Koning JJ, Bobbert MF, Foster C. Determination of optimal pacing strategy in track cycling with an energy flow model. J Sci Med Sport 1999; 2: 266-77

- Broker JP, Kyle CR, Burke ER. Racing cyclist power requirements in the 4000-m individual and team pursuits. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1999; 31: 1677-85
- 54. Saltin B. Anaerobic capacity: past, present and prospective. In: Taylor AW, Gollnick PD, Green HJ, et al, editors. Biochemistry of exercise. VII. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics, 1990: 387-412
- Medbo JL, Burgers S. Effect of training on the anaerobic capacity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1990; 22: 501-7
- Capelli C, Schena F, Zamparo P, et al. Energetics of best performances in track cycling. Eur J Appl Physiol 1998; 30: 614-24
- Jones SM, Passfield L. The dynamic calibration of bicycle power measuring cranks. In: Haake SJ, editor. The engineering of sport. Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd, 1998: 265-74
- Faria IE. Energy expenditure, aerodynamics and medical problems in cycling. Sports Med 1992; 14: 43-63
- Boulay MR. Physiological monitoring of elite cyclists. Sports Med 1995; 20: 1-11
- Burke ER. Physiology of cycling. In: Garrett WE, Kirkendall DT, editors. Exercise and sport science. Philadelphia (PA): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2000: 759-70
- Hawley J, Burke L. Peak Performance: training and nutritional strategies for sport. St Leonards (NSW): Allen and Unwin, 1998
- Conconi F, Alfieri N. Training the physiological characteristics employed in road cycling. In: Gregor RJ, Conconi F, editors. Road cycling. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Ltd, 2000: 46-53
- Hopkins WG. Quantification of training in competitive sports: methods and applications. Sports Med 1991; 12: 161-83
- 64. Foster C, Daniels JT, Seiler S. Perspectives on correct approaches to training. In: Lehmann M, Foster C, Gastmann U, et al., editors. Overload, performance incompetence and regeneration in sport. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, 1999: 27-42
- 65. Foster C, Snyder A, Welsh R. Monitoring of training, warm up and performance in athletes. In: Lehmann M, Foster C, Gastmann U, et al., editors. Overload, performance incompetence and regeneration in sport. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, 1999: 43-52
- 66. Rowbottom DG. Periodisation of training. In: Garrett WE, Kirkendall DT, editors. Exercise and sport science. Philadelphia (PA): Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2000: 499-512

Correspondence and offprints: *Neil P. Craig*, Australian Institute of Sport (Track Cycling Unit), 209 Esplanade, Henley Beach SA 5022, Australia.

E-mail: npcraig@bigpond.com.au